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STATEMENT OF FACTS 
 

The Petitioners in this case are American investors who bought shares of 

a foreign corporation, Alcollezione, and suffered fraudulent economic losses. 

The foreign corporation, despite not being a registered reporting company with 

the Securities and Exchange Commission, was able to list its shares via 

unsponsored ADRs. (R. at 3). The ADRs were set up by a depositary institute in 

the United States. (R. at 3). The shares were listed by a U.S. bank with the help 

of an American investment banker. (R. at 3). 

Alcollezione is an Italian corporation started by two American citizens 

known for their success and expertise in marketing, corporations, and finance. 

(R. at 1).  Alcollezione was started as a venture to “upend the wine-and-liquor 

industry and its two founders, realizing the lack of legal expertise in Italian 

corporate law, hired an Italian attorney—the Respondent in this case. (R. at 2).   

Due to the executive’s respective expertise, the business was initially 

successful. (R. at 2). However, despite Alcollezione’s success in their limited 

products, far more capital was necessary to beat their competitors in the 

already established wine and liquor industry. (R. at 2). To raise the additional 

funds, the executives decided to take Alcollezione public and listed its shares 

on the Italian Exchange. (R. at 3). Alcollezione’s business boomed following the 

public offering. (R. at 3).   

While preparing for Alcollezione’s public offering, Alcollezione created an 

“Investor Relations” section on its website where financial statements, 

corporate disclosures, and other materials would be posted in both Italian and 

English so investors could rely on them. (R. at 3). On a flight to visit New York, 
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the executives and Respondent reflected on Alcollezione’s success with U.S. 

consumers. (R. at 3). During that visit to New York, the group met with a group 

of the Chief Financial Officer’s (“CFO”) associates, which included Doris Schutt, 

an American investment banker at Hansen Bank and Trust and the CFO’s 

colleague from his prior position as a senior financial executive of a large 

corporation. (R. at 3). During dinner, Schutt suggested the executives consider 

different ways to access American markets and investors, one of which was to 

sponsor an American Depositary Receipt (“ADR”). (R. at 3). At that time, the 

executives rejected this idea. (R. at 3).   

 Shortly after the trip, the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) was interviewed 

for a feature on ex-pat business icons in the magazine Slow Company. (R. at 3). 

In the interview for the piece, the CEO claimed that he had “no intention of 

moving back to the United States”. (R. at 4). However, when asked why he 

would not relinquish his U.S. citizenship, he responded, “I feel the way I do 

now, but you never know what tomorrow holds.” (R. at 4). Due to the magazine 

profile, a group of Schutt’s hedge fund friends approached Schutt about buying 

into Alcollezione. (R. at 4). Due to restrictions on trading on foreign exchanges, 

Schutt contacted the Chief Financial Officer (“CEO”) to set up an unsponsored 

ADR. (R. at 4). The CEO acquiesced and soon after, Schutt used her position at 

Hansen Bank and Trust to set up an unsponsored ADR for Alcollezione in the 

United States. (R. at 4). Following registration, Alcollezione’s ADR’s were traded 

and purchased by phone by hedge fund managers in New York and 

Connecticut with the assistance of the U.S. bank and Trust employees. (R. at 

4).   
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Although their stock remained high in Italy, the executives felt the 

business was plateauing. (R. at 4). To address this, the executives decided to 

create a low-calorie spiked mineral water, due to the success other alcoholic 

beverage companies had with similar products. (R. at 5). The Respondent was 

responsible for confirming that the company will be complying with Italian 

regulations. (R. at 5). Alcollezione wanted to share this news to its shareholders 

during its Annual Meeting. (R. at 5). So, despite the CEO and Respondent not 

being certain if its new product would satisfy the new restricting beverage 

regulations, Respondent drafted inaccurate assurances and disclosures that 

the product “was to be approved and ready for market in the second quarter of 

2018.” (R. at 6). These fallacious disclosures were not only shared at the 

Annual Shareholder’s meeting, but also posted on “Investor Relations” section 

of Alcollezione’s webpage. (R. at 6).  

Following the announcement, Alcollezione’s stock and ADRs continued to 

trend upward through early winter 2018 with the American investors, the 

Petitioners in this case, being main drivers of the ADR price. (R. at 6). However, 

to the shock to investors, on March 14, 2018, Alcollezione announced that 

Frizzantissimo did not comply with quality control standards and production 

would have to halt immediately. (R. at 6). In the following hours, the stock price 

tumbled by nearly 29%. (R. at 6). And to the extreme detriment of the 

investors, the ADR price dropped nearly 27%. R. at 6). Subsequently, all senior 

executives stepped down from their roles. (R. at 6). 

On September 6, 2018, the Petitioners who had purchased Alcollezione 

ADRs in the United States following the 2017 Shareholder Meeting commenced 
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this action in the United States District Court for the District of Fordham. (R. 

at 7). Petitioners allege that Alcollezione and its former executives, including 

the Respondent, committed securities fraud in violation of Section 10(b) of the 

Securities Act of 1934. (R. at 7). Petitioners seek $6.1 million compensatory 

damages in connection with their purchase of Alcollezione ADRs. (R. at 7). 

Specifically, that their purchases were in reliance on allegedly false and 

misleading statements delivered at the Annual Meeting and published on the 

Investor Relations section of Alcollezione’s webpage. (R. at 7). On November 21, 

2018, the district court in denying Respondent’s motion to dismiss, stated the 

Respondent was involved in a domestic transaction, calling for Section 10(b)’s 

extraterritorial application. (R. at 8). Respondent was also found to be subject 

to primary liability as a disseminator of false and misleading statements. (R. at 

8). Respondent filed a timely appeal with the Court of Appeals for the 

Fourteenth Circuit. The Fourteenth Circuit then reversed the United States 

District Court for the District of Fordham’s decision, holding that sufficient 

facts were not alleged. (R. at 23). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 
 

The nature of securities transactions places investors at the 

disadvantageous side of an information asymmetry compared to issuers or 

brokers. The United States Securities Exchange Act (“the Exchange Act”) 

sought to balance that equation through regulation that required transparency 

between the parties. Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 are some of the tools the 

Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) rely on to protect American 

investors against fraudulent losses. 17 C.F.R. II § 200.1 
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Extraterritorial Application Under Rule 10b-5 
 

 The Fourteenth Circuit incorrectly dismissed the Petitioner’s Section 

10b-5 claims when it misapplied Morrison to this case by relying on the Second 

Circuit’s Parkcentral decision. Instead the lower court should have held that 

the purchase and sale of the securities being in the United States was 

sufficient for Section 10(b) applying.  

In Morrison, the Supreme Court focused Section 10(b)’s scope where the 

purchases and sales were made or the exchange the securities are listed. This 

Court clearly rejected Morrison’s predecessor, the “conducts and effects” test, 

which the Second Circuit followed in Parkcentral. Therefore, affirming the 

Fourteenth Circuit’s decision will regress Section 10(b)’s application to what 

the Morrison court explicitly intended to leave behind - compelling this Court to 

reverse the Circuit Court’s decision. 

 First, the Fourteenth Circuit’s reliance on Parkcentral to hold that 

Section 10(b)’s extraterritorial application to the securities in this case would 

undercut Morrison is erroneous. Instead, the Fourteenth Circuit should have 

followed the district court in this case and rely on the Ninth Circuit’s decision 

in Stoyas v. Toshiba because the Stoyas court correctly applies Morrison and 

the facts in Stoyas parallels those of the case at bar.  

 Second, the Fourteenth Circuit’s incorrect application—basing Section 

10(b)’s scope on where the fraudulent statements were made, the conduct 

occurred, and what audience it was directed at—regresses the law to the 

“conducts and effects” test the Supreme Court unambiguously rejected in 

Morrison. 
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 Finally, the Fourteenth Circuit’s comity concerns and duplicitous 

litigation are unfounded because there are numerous safeguards that protect 

foreign issuers after Section 10(b)’s application is met.  

Primary Liability under Rule 10b-5 

The Fourteenth Circuit also incorrectly dismissed the Petitioner’s Section 

10b-5 claims as Cato is undoubtedly subject to primary liability under Rule 

10b-5(a) and (c) as a disseminator.  

Rule 10b-5 was created to specifically protect investors and thereby 

identifies the specific and necessary conduct that gives rise to primary liability 

under securities law. Securities Exchange Act Rule 10b–5 makes it unlawful to 

(a) “employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,” (b) “make any untrue 

statement of a material fact,” or (c) “engage in any act, practice, or course of 

business” that “operates ... as a fraud or deceit” in connection with the 

purchase or sale of securities.  

Here, Cato not only employed a scheme, but also engaged in a practice 

that operated as fraud when she disseminated faulty assurances about 

Frizzantissimo’s compliance with beverage regulations that investors 

subsequently relied on when deciding whether or not to invest in Alcollezione. 

This Court recently held that the subsections of Rule 10b-5 are not—and were 

never intended to be—exclusive to one another. Therefore, it is irrelevant that 

Cato did not “make” the statement and thus cannot be subject to liability 

under Rule 10b-5(b) under this Court’s recent precedent as she can still be 

held liable under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c).  



  P14 

 7 

Moreover, Cato also acted with the requisite scienter necessary to be held 

primarily liability under Rule 10b-5 as she had the intent to deceive, 

manipulate and defraud the investors. Cato intended to defraud investors to 

purchase Alcollezione stock based her assurances that Frizzantissimo would 

pass beverage compliance. Thus, when it did not, Petitioners, who relied on 

these faulty assurances to their detriment suffered a large financial loss.  

For these sufficient reasons, a claim has been stated upon which relief 

may be granted and thus Respondent’s motion to dismiss must be denied. We 

respectfully ask this Court to reverse the decision of the Fourteenth Circuit and 

reinstate the decision of the United States District Court for the District of 

Fordham. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a 

complaint does not need detailed allegations to survive a motion to dismiss. 

Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007). Rather, the complaint 

need only have “enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its 

face.” Id. Motions to dismiss are reviewed de novo. Zucco Partners, LLC v. 

Digimarc Corp., 552 F.3d 981, 989 (9th Cir. 2009). 

ARGUMENT 

I. THIS COURT’S DECISION IN MORRISON COMPELS SECTION 
10(b)’S TRANSATIONAL REACH TO APPLY TO THIS CASE 

BECAUSE THE PURCHASES AND SALES OF ALCOLLEZIONE’S 
UNSPONSORED ADRs OCCURRED IN THE UNITED STATES. 
 

 The Fourteenth Circuit incorrectly held that the fraudulent losses 

American investors suffered from their investment in unsponsored ADRs are 
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not protected by the United States Exchange Act. The Supreme Court has 

unambiguously stated that the scope and application of Section 10(b) is on 

“purchases and sales of securities in the United States” because it is the 

statute’s “exclusive focus.” Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266-68. While the Fourteenth 

Circuit correctly acknowledged that Respondent’s purchase of the securities 

were in the United States, it failed to recognize that this case is the exact 

situation the Morrison Court intended to place in the purview of Section 10(b). 

(R. at 14). Instead, the Fourteenth Circuit erroneously followed the Second 

Circuit’s analysis in Parkcentral when it should have followed the Ninth and 

Second Circuits’ approaches in Stoyas v. Toshiba and Absolute Activist Value 

Master Fund v. Ficeto respectively. Stoyas v. Toshiba, 896 F.3d 933 (9th Cir. 

2018); Absolute Activist Value Master Fund v. Ficeto, 677 F.3d 60, 68 (2d Cir. 

2012). Therefore, this Court must reverse the Fourteenth Circuit’s decision.  

A. The District Court Correctly Applied Morrison Because It Focused  

on The Geography of the Transaction.  
 
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act makes it unlawful to “use or employ, in 

connection with the purchase or sale of any security” a “manipulative or 

deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations 

as the [Securities Exchange Commission] may prescribe.” 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b). 

The Exchange Act broadly defines “Security,” as including, stocks, bonds, 

debentures, a variety of other instruments, or, “in general, any instrument 

commonly known as a ‘security.’” 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(10). 

 Rule 10b-5 is Section 10(b)’s implementing regulation and defines the 

scope of the statutory language. See 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. It renders specific 
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fraudulent acts in connection with the purchase or sale of any security 

unlawful. See id. While Section 10(b) does not focus on punishing deceptive 

conduct, it instead looks to punish deceptive conduct “in connection with the 

purchase or sale of any security not so registered.” 15 U.S.C. 78j(b); see 

Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266.  

In Morrison, this Court considered whether Section 10(b) applies to an 

alleged fraud stemming from misstatements about the bank’s financial 

statements made by the American subsidiary of an Australian bank. Id. at 251-

3. Australian investors who had relied on the alleged misstatements to 

purchase the bank’s shares on the Australian Stock Exchange brought the 

claim against the foreign issuer. Id.  

Prior to Morrison, questions regarding Section 10(b)’s transnational reach 

underwent the conducts-and-effects test. Id. at 275 (Stevens, J., concurring in 

the judgment). Relying only on the perceived Congressional intent, the courts 

approached questions on Section 10(b)’s scope with a case by case analysis 

weighing whether the securities fraud had an effect in the United States or 

sufficient amount of the conduct occurred domestically. Id.  

In Morrison, this Court abandoned the conducts and effects test because 

of the urgent need to address the “unpredictable and inconsistent application 

of § 10(b) to transnational cases” the test had caused. Id. at 267. Relying on the 

statute’s texts, this Court focused the scope and application of the Exchange 

Act on the geography—either the location of the transactions or the exchange 

the securities are listed are the inquiry’s only two prongs. Id. at 266-7. 
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This Court’s opinion explained that this approach must replace the 

conducts and effect test because of the lack of “any textual support” within the 

Exchange Act that required “significant conduct” material to the fraud occur in 

the United States for a Section 10(b) claim to fall within its protection. Id. at 

270. Instead, it adopted a “transactional test”, explaining that Section 10(b)’s 

scope is “upon [where] purchases and sales of securities” occurs. Id. at 266. 

Under this approach, courts must ask “whether the purchase or sale is made 

in the United States, or involves a security listed on a domestic exchange.” Id. 

at 269-70.  

Applying the new standard, this Court ruled against the Australian 

investor because “the focus of the Exchange Act is not upon the place where 

the deception originated, but upon purchases and sales of securities in the 

United States.” Id. at 266 (emphasis added). Since the Australian investors had 

purchased the shares on an Australian exchange and the transactions 

occurred outside of the U.S., it did not fit within the Exchange Act’s purview. 

Id. In a decision subsequent to Morrison, the Supreme Court buttressed 

Morrison’s theme in presumptions against extraterritorial application of U.S. 

laws unless the conduct the statute focuses on occurs in the United States. See 

RJR Nabisco, Inc. v. European Cmty., 136 S. Ct. 2090, 2101 (2016) (“If the 

conduct relevant to the statute’s focus occurred in the United States, then the 

case involves a permissible domestic application even if other conduct occurred 

abroad.”); see also WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp., 138 S. Ct. 2129, 

2136 (2018) (“[If] the conduct relevant to [the statute’s] focus occurred in 
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United States territory [...] then the case involves a permissible domestic 

application of the statute.”).  

The Fourteenth Circuit not only incorrectly applied Morrison, but also 

directly contradicts it. (R. at 15-6). The lower court, despite admitting that “the 

purchase of these ADRs is domestic within the meaning of Section 10(b), and 

thus passes Morrison’s transactional test”,  inquired further. (R. at 14). Had the 

lower court stopped there, it would have been in line with Morrison because it 

was sufficient for Section 10(b) to apply. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266. However, 

by venturing beyond the geography of the transaction the court of appeal’s 

decision undercuts Morrison. Id. Since its conclusion is contrary to Morrison, 

the court of appeal’s decision compels reversal. 

1. The District Court Correctly Relied on the Ninth 
Circuit’s Decision in Stoyas because It Stayed True to 

Morrison.  
 

The Fourteenth Circuit was incorrect in overruling the district court’s 

reliance on Stoyas v. Toshiba and relying in favor of Parkcentral Global Hub Ltd 

v. Porsche Automobile Holdings SE. 896 F.3d 933 (9th Cir. 2018); 763 F.3d 198 

(2d Cir. 2014).  

Just two years after Morrison, the Second Circuit added another layer to 

the Supreme Court’s analysis by defining “domestic transaction” as where 

there is “irrevocable liability.” Absolute Activist, 677 F.3d at 69. The Second 

Circuit explained this standard as: “rather than looking to the identity of the 

parties, the type of security at issue, or whether each individual defendant 

engaged in conduct within the United States [...] a securities transaction is 

domestic when the parties incur irrevocable liability to carry out the 
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transaction within the United States or when title is passed within the United 

States.” Id. (emphasis added).  

In Stoyas, the Ninth Circuit applied Absolute Activist’s “irrevocable 

liability” standard and found the American investor’s purchases of a foreign 

corporation’s unsponsored ADRs were sufficient to satisfy “domestic 

transaction” under 10(b). Stoyas, 896 F.3d at 949. Applying Morrison, the 

Ninth Circuit first found that the OTC market the ADRs were trading on was 

not a “domestic exchange” since the SEC had labeled the specific exchange, 

OTC Link, as an “alternative trading system.” Id. That designation precluded 

the OTC market from being an exchange. Id.  

Under Morrison’s second prong, the Ninth Circuit used Absolute Activist’s 

“irrevocable liability” standard and placed the location of the transaction in the 

United States and denied the Toshiba’s, the foreign corporation, motion to 

dismiss. Id. at 948-49. The Ninth Circuit explained that though the initial 

complaint in Stoyas lacked sufficient detail to determine where irrevocable 

liability occurred, the Appellant had acknowledged the unsponsored ADRs at 

issue were purchased in the United States. Id. at 950-52. Therefore, an 

amended complaint “could almost certainly allege sufficient fact to establish” 

location of the transaction to be domestic. Id.  

The Ninth Circuit distinguished the case from Parkcentral for two salient 

reasons: first, the securities in question in Parkcentral were swap-agreements 

(which are not direct investments in the shares), and second, because the 

Second Circuit did not intend Parkcentral to be a new place marker on 10(b)’s 

transnational reach. 763 F.3d at 205-6, 217. Hence, the Ninth Circuit relied on 
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Absolute Activist. 896 F.3d at 948-49. While the district court in this case 

correctly precluded the Parkcentral approach, the Circuit Court did not. (R. at 

14-6).  

B. The Fourteenth Circuit’s Reliance on Parkcentral is Erroneous 
because the Case was an Outlier and Focus on Specific Conduct 

Regresses 10(b) Application to “Conducts and Effects” Test This 
Court Rejected. 
 
The Fourteenth Circuit incorrectly applied the Second Circuit’s 

Parkcentral approach despite even the Second Circuit acknowledging that the 

case is an outlier, not a new norm.  

In its Parkcentral opinion, the Second Circuit designated the case as an 

anomaly and highlighted the unique sets of facts that required them to deviate 

from its previous application of Morrison in Absolute Activist. Parkcentral, 764 

F.3d at 217 (“we have neither the expertise nor the evidence to allow us to lay 

down [...] a rule that will properly apply the principles of Morrison to every 

future § 10(b) action involving the regulation of securities-based swap 

agreements in particular or of more conventional securities generally.”).  

This sentiment is mirrored in the Second Circuit’s jurisprudence after 

Parkcentral, where the Second Circuit applied Absolute Activist to cases 

regarding the Exchange Act’s extraterritorial reach. S.E.C. v. Amerindo Inv. 

Advisors, 639 F. App’x 752, 753 (2d. 2016) (“Absolute Activist clearly defined 

‘domestic transactions’ in the wake of Morrison [....] There is no basis for us to 

reconsider our decision in Absolute Activist”); see Myn-Uk Choi v. Tower 

Research Capital LLC, 890 F.3d 60 (2d Cir. 2018). 
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The Fourteenth Circuit, by incorrectly applying Parkcentral, regressed to 

the conducts and effects test this Court unambiguously rejected in Morrison. 

516 U.S. at 257. More worrisome, by focusing on where the fraudulent 

statements were made, who the intended audience were, and whether conduct 

material to the fraud occurred in the United States, the Fourteenth Circuit 

misunderstood that while Morrison’s principles determine when Section 10(b) 

applies, it does not determine when it is violated. (R. at 15-6). The geographic 

inquiry Morrison calls for is because Section 10(b) “seeks to punish deceptive 

conduct in connection to securities transactions in the United States.”15 U.S.C 

§ 78j(b). Even after Section 10(b) is found to be applicable, Petitioners must 

establish materiality, scienter, reliance, and loss causation. See Dura Pharm., 

Inc. v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 341-42 (2005). Section 10(b)’s transnational 

application does not preclude Respondents from raising defenses regarding the 

specifics of Section 10(b) violation in trial or via summary judgment. See 

Stoyas, 896 F.3d 933 (9th Cir. 2018).  

The Fourteenth Circuit incorrectly hurdled questions of Section 10(b)’s 

transnational reach and directly addressed the materiality of the fraud. (R. at 

15). Therefore, this Court must reverse the Fourteenth Circuit’s decision.  

1. Applying Section 10(b) to Unsponsored ADRs Does Not 

Undercut Morrison’s Presumption Against 
Extraterritoriality because the Foreign Corporation 
Acquiesced.  

 
 ADRs are certificates of ownership of American Depositary Shares and 

have been regulated by the SEC since 1955. “Additional Form F-6 Eligibility 

Requirement,” 68 Fed. Reg. 54644 (Sept. 17, 2003); ER703-ER704. Since then, 
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ADRs have become a common vehicle for transactions of foreign securities in 

the United States. SEC Staff, Study on the Cross-Border Scope of the Private 

Right of Action Under Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, at A3-

A4 (Apr. 2012) (SEC Study), https://www.sec.gov/news/studies/2012/929y-

study-cross-border-private-rights.pdf.  

ADRs can be “sponsored” by the foreign issuer or “unsponsored.” ER703-

704. Regardless if they are sponsored and unsponsored, ADRs represent a 

direct investment in the foreign issuer’s stock and are subject to the same 

reporting or registration requirements of the SEC and the U.S. Exchange Act. 

See 15 U.S.C. § 77a; see also 17 C.F.R. § 239.36. The difference lies in 

sponsored ADR “effectively [being] a three party-contract” where the foreign 

company whose shares are represented by the ADR and the depositary - 

typically a U.S. bank - and the ADR holders are third-party beneficiaries. E703. 

An unsponsored ADR, meanwhile, is “a two-party contract between the 

depositary and the ADR holders” and can be done without the consent of the 

company whose shares are listed. Id. 

One of the reasons the Fourteenth Circuit chose to apply Parkcentral was 

because it incorrectly believed that Alcollezione had never consented to its 

shares being represented as an unsponsored ADR. However, in this case, 

Alcollezione was actually informed of the unsponsored ADR being created and 

acquiesced to the depositary listing its shares as unsponsored ADRs:  

“Schutt informed Marconi...using [Schutt’s] position at Hansen Bank and 
Trust, a New York Depository institution, to set up an unsponsored ADR. She 
added that she thought it appropriate to check with the company before doing 
so [...] Several weeks later, Hansen Bank and Trust filed a Form F-6 to register 

the unsponsored Alcollezione ADRs.” (R. at 4). 

https://www.sec.gov/news/studies/2012/929y-study-cross-border-private-rights.pdf
https://www.sec.gov/news/studies/2012/929y-study-cross-border-private-rights.pdf
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Even if the Fourteenth Circuit had found that Alcollezione had not 

consented to its shares being represented as an unsponsored ADR, it would 

still fall under Section 10(b)’s transnational application. Stoyas, 896 F.3d at 

937-38. In the Ninth Circuit’s decision in Stoyas, the foreign issuer, Toshiba, 

did not consent to the unsponsored ADRs being listed. Id. However, the Ninth 

Circuit, in correctly applying Morrison, held that Toshiba’s actions were still 

within Section 10(b)’s reach because the transaction occurring in the United 

States was sufficient. Id.  

There also are policy considerations to not differentiate between 

sponsored and unsponsored ADRs when applying Section 10(b). ADRs have 

been known to provide a “significant benefit” for foreign corporations that are 

looking to “tap into the American market.” Pinker v. Roche Holdings Ltd., 292 

F.3d 361, 367 (3d Cir. 2002). Even though the foreign issuers are subject to 

the Exchange Act, they still benefit from the access to American investors 

without taking on the considerable financial burden of filing and registering 

with the SEC. Id. And if this Court were to follow in the Fourteenth Circuit’s 

misstep by affirming the Fourteenth Circuit, it could open a venue where 

foreign issuers can take advantage of American investors without being 

accountable for the fraudulent losses they create through specific securities.  

2. Comity Concerns are Unfounded Because There Are 

Numerous Safeguards Even After Section 10(b)’s 
Application.  

 
Finally, the Fourteenth Circuit stated that concerns of frustrating foreign 

investigations and duplicitous litigation contributed to its holding. (R. at 16). 
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However, those concerns are unfounded. As stated above, there are numerous 

safeguards for Respondents after Section 10(b) is found to be applicable. 

Petitioners, even if this motion is dismissed, must still overcome the 

considerable burden in demonstrating that the injuries the investors suffered 

were a cause of Respondent’s conduct and were done despite the results being 

foreseeable. See Holmes v. Securities Investor Prot. Corp., 503 U.S. 258, 268 

(1992); see also Associated Gen. Contractors of Cal., Inc. v. California State 

Council of Carpenters, 459 U.S. 519, 532-533 (1983).    

Furthermore, despite concerns of frustrating foreign investigations, 

affirming the Fourteenth Circuit’s decision would have greater consequences. 

See Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266. It would mean neglecting American investors, 

who are entitled to the Exchange Act’s protection, even in private transactions. 

See 17 C.F.R. § 200.1 Stating that potential to interfere with foreign 

investigations outweigh the domestic regulation, enforcement, and protection of 

American citizens is wholly at conflict with the Exchange Act and Congress’ 

intent. See id.; 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b). Finally, upholding the Fourteenth Circuit’s 

decision will return Section 10(b)’s extraterritorial application to the 

inconsistent standards of the conducts and effects test. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 

259, 261. It would also once again cause confusion as to what subjects one to 

U.S. securities laws, which may lead to discord in the international markets 

and harm to domestic ones. See Kun Young Chang, Multinational Enforcement 

of U.S. Securities Laws: The Need for the Clear and Restrained Scope of 

Extraterritorial Subject-Matter Jurisdiction, 9 FORD. J. CORP. & FIN. L. 89, 107-

09 (2004).   
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Therefore, there are numerous safeguards that extinguish the lower 

court’s comity concerns; therefore, the lower court should be reversed and the 

motion to dismiss should be denied.  

II. CATO IS SUBJECT TO PRIMARY LIABILITY UNDER RULE 10B-5(a) 
and (c) UNDER THIS COURT’S JURISPRUDENCE. 

 
According to Congress, securities regulation is imperative for the purpose 

of promoting ethical standards of honesty and fair dealing in the securities 

market. See S. Rep. No. 792, 73d Cong., 2d Sess., 1-5 (1934); Cent. Bank of 

Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 170 (1994). 

Following economically devastating events such as Enron, WorldCom, Bernard 

Madoff’s Ponzi Scheme and more which have devastated “unsuspected 

investors, scholars have referenced to securities fraud as “the most destructive, 

vehicle for financial harm in twenty-first century.” Elizabeth Cosenza, “Is the 

Third Time the Charm? Janus and the Proper Balance Between Primary and 

Secondary Actor Liability Under Section 10(b)”, 33 Cardozo L. Rev. 1019, 1022 

(2012). One major action taken to promote the indispensable standard of 

honesty and fair dealing was the enactment of the Exchange Act. Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 (48 Stat. 881, 15 U.S.C. 78a-78kk). 

The Exchange Act protects investors against manipulation of stock prices 

through more in depth regulations and regular reporting requirements on 

companies whose stock is listed on national securities exchanges. See 

S.Rep.No.792 (1934). Rule 10b–5 makes it unlawful to (a) “employ any device, 

scheme, or artifice to defraud,” (b) “make any untrue statement of a material 

fact,” or (c) “engage in any act, practice, or course of business” that “operates ... 
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as a fraud or deceit” in connection with the purchase or sale of securities. 17 

C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.  

 This Court has routinely drawn a distinction between primary violators 

and secondary violators of these rules—holding only primary violators liable 

under Rule 10b-5. Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of 

Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164 (1994). This Court has also held that a disseminator 

of the misstatements, if acting with the requisite scienter, may also be 

primarily liable under subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5. Lorenzo v. Sec. & 

Exch. Comm'n, 139 S. Ct. 1094, 1099 (2019). 

Here, Cato is undeniably subject to primary liability as the disseminator 

of information under both subsection (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5. 17 C.F.R. § 

240.10b-5. In short, she not only employed a scheme, but also engaged in a 

practice that operated as fraud when she disseminated faulty assurances 

about Frizzantissimo’s compliance with beverage regulations that investors 

subsequently relied on to invest in Alcollezione. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5; (R. at 

6). Cato also acted with the requisite scienter to be liable under Rule 10b-5 

since she intended to defraud the investors with the faulty assurances. (R. at 

6). Therefore, Cato is in fact subject to primary liability as the disseminator of 

information under both subsection (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5. Lorenzo, 139 S. 

Ct. at 1099. 

A. Cato is Subject to Primary Liability Under Both Subsection (a) and 
(c) of Rule 10b-5 Because This Court in Lorenzo Made Clear that the 

Subsections are Not Mutually Exclusive.      
  
This Court in Lorenzo explicitly held that the subsections of Rule 10b-5 

are not mutually exclusive and defendants who may escape liability under one 
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subsection can still be held accountable under another. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 

1094 (holding that individuals can be “primarily liable under Rules 10b–5(a) 

and (c). . . even if they are secondarily liable under Rule 10b–5(b).”) The 

Exchange Act aims “to meet the countless and variable schemes devised by 

those who seek the use of the money of others on the promise of profits.” SEC. 

& Exch. Comm'n, v. W. J. Howey Co., 328 U.S. 293, 299 (1946). In order to 

combat these schemes, this Court has described Section 10(b) as a fraud 

catchall provision. See Chiarella v. United States, 445 U.S. 222, 234–35 (1980). 

This Court has also emphasized that non-exclusivity between the subsections 

is imperative to combat these schemes and ensure the highest standard of 

business ethics in the securities industry. Id. at 1102. 

Yet here, Respondent seeks to address the exact same Rule 10b-5 

statutory interpretation question that was answered in Lorenzo. Id. at 1101. 

Specifically, the Fourteenth Circuit incorrectly held that Rule 10b-5 should be 

read as mutually exclusive to one another to ensure there is no overlap 

between the subsections. (R. at 21). However, Lorenzo indubitably governs 

where this Court explicitly rejected the argument that the provisions of Rule 

10b-5 should be read mutually exclusive to ensure there is no overlap between 

the subsections and thus the argument should be rejected again. Lorenzo, 139 

S. Ct. at 1102.  

In its opinion, the Lorenzo Court gave various examples to thoroughly 

detail why it is incorrect to read the subsections as mutually exclusive and thus 

it should still not be done in the present case. Id. First, This Court explained 

both “this Court and the Commission have long recognized considerable overlap 
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among the subsections of the Rule and related provisions of the securities laws.” 

Id.; see also In re R. D. Bayly & Co., 19 S. E. C. 773 (1945) (finding violations of 

what would become Rules 10b–5(b) and (c) based on the same 

misrepresentations and omissions). Second, courts other than the Lorenzo court 

have read the subsections of Rule 10b-5 as encompassing different acts for 

which liability can be imposed. Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, 

406 U.S. 128, 152–53 (1972). In Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah, this Court also 

explained that the subsection (b) of Rule 10b-5 specifies the making of an untrue 

statement of a material fact and the omission to state a material fact. Affiliated 

Ute Citizens of Utah, 406 U.S. at 152–53. However, this Court held “the first and 

third subparagraphs are not so restricted.” Id. at 153. In that case, this Court 

found there was clear liability on part of the defendants as the actions involved 

“a device, scheme, or artifice” or “course of business” even though there was not 

technically a statement “made” Id. Thus, liability was given under the first and 

third subsection but not the second—the exact situation in Lorenzo and the 

present case. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101. 

Accordingly, it would be unprecedented for this Court to find that just 

because Cato is not the “maker” of the statement under this Court’s precedent 

in Janus she cannot be primarily liable in another subsection of Rule 10b-5 

under this Court’s historical and incredibly recent precedent in Lorenzo. See 

Janus Capital Group, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 564 U. S. 135 (2011). There 

is no reason for this Court to depart from its own interpretation in Lorenzo. 

Cato’s actions fall squarely under subsections (a) and (c) and thus her actions 
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must be analyzed under those subsections of Rule 10b-5. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-

5. 

B. Because Cato Inserted False and Misleading Information into 
Investor Materials with the Requisite Intent, She is In Fact a 

Disseminator Under Rule 10b-5 (a) and (c) and This Court’s 
Jurisprudence.  
 
To determine if someone is subject to primary liability under Rule 10b-5, 

this Court must look to the actions and intent of the person. 17 C.F.R. § 

240.10b-5. Both must be considered. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1100. Even if an 

individual is not the “maker” of the misstatement, she can be liable for 

fraudulent conduct, which has been the way the S.E.C., lower courts, and this 

Court has interpreted securities fraud regulation. See id.; Herman & MacLean 

v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 383 (1983); 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. Cato 

disseminated false and misleading information with the intent to deceive 

investors. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5; (R. at 6). As this Court explicitly held those 

who disseminate false statements with intent to defraud are primarily liable 

under Rules 10b–5(a) and (c) even if they are secondarily liable under Rule 

10b–5(b). Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1104. As such, primary liability is proper.  

1. Cato’s Actions are Analogous to the Disseminator 

in Lorenzo Subjecting her to Primary Liability 
Under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c).  

 
In Lorenzo, this Court found primary liability proper of part of the 

Defendant, Lorenzo, the director of investment banking for a registered broker-

dealer in New York who knowingly sent emails containing false information and 

therefore “employ[ed]” a “device,” “scheme,” and “artifice to defraud” within the 

meaning of subsection (a) under Rule 10b-5. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101. 
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Likewise, Cato violated subsection (a) of the Act because she created 

assurances that she knew were false. (R. at 6). In fact, Cato cautioned “it would 

be an uphill climb” and while possible in the long-term, [Frizzantissimo’s 

compliance] “seemed unlikely in the short-term.” (R. at 5). Moreover, she knew 

the investors would receive and rely upon the slide deck and pro-forma 

financial statements shared at the 2017 Annual Shareholder Meeting. (R. at 6). 

Still, she disseminated information that contained her material 

misrepresentations that Frizzantissimo would pass beverage regulation in the 

short term. (R. at 6). Specifically, she assured investors the product was “to be 

approved and ready for market in the second quarter of 2018.” (R. at 6). 

Cato condensed these assurances into a disclosure that was 

subsequently inserted into Marconi’s, slide deck and footnoted in the pro-forma 

financial statements. (R. at 6). By putting these assurances into the slide deck, 

she knew they would be distributed at the annual shareholder investor meeting 

and beyond, so she was “sending” the assurances to the investors. (R. at 6.) 

Thus, whether the misrepresentations were disseminated by email, or another 

way, is a distinction without a difference. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101; (R. at 6). 

Therefore, just as this Court held sending emails with a material untruth 

“employed a device, scheme or artifice to defraud”, this Court should also find 

Cato’s actions also fall under subsection (a). Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101.  

Cato is also liable under subsection (c) of Rule 10b-5. 17 C.F.R. § 

240.10b-5. Subsection (c) of Rule 10b-5 subjects an individual to primary 

liability if they “engage” in any act, practice, or course of business which 

operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person. 17 C.F.R. § 
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240.10b-5. This Court in Lorenzo found that subsection (c) was just as 

expansive of subsection (a). Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101. This Court found that 

Lorenzo’s actions (dissemination of misleading material) certainly fell under 

subsection (c) as an act, practice, or course of business to deceit a person. Id.  

Suitably, this Court then held that by sending false and misleading information 

to investors through email, Lorenzo in fact did violate subsection (c). Id. So too 

here. Here, Cato inserted false and misleading information and then 

disseminated it when she inserted those assurances into both a slide deck and 

pro-forma financial statements that she knew would be given to investors in 

person and placed on the company website for them to further rely on and 

therefore primary liability under subsection (c) is also proper. (R. at 6). 

Cato’s actions are similar to the defendant in Affiliated Ute Citizens of 

Utah, where this Court described the defendants’ activities as falling under 

subsection (a) and (c) when defendants devised a plan and induced the mixed-

blood holders of UDC stock to dispose of their shares without disclosing to 

them material facts. Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah, 406 U.S. at 153. There this 

Court found the defendants’ activities as falling “within the very language” of 

subsections (a) or (c), as ‘course of business’ or a ‘device, scheme, or artifice’ 

that operated as a fraud.” Id. Similarly here, Cato’s actions fall under both 

subsection (a) and (c) of the Act as her actions are almost indistinguishable 

from the defendant’s in Lorenzo and Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah. (R. at 6). 

Thus, this Court should find Cato’s actions not only make her liable under 

subsection (a) of Rule 10b-5 but also makes her liable under subsection (c). (R. 

at 6). 
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2. Cato Had the Requisite Intent Required for Rule 
10b-5 Primary Liability Because She Intended to 

Deceive Investors With the Dissemination of False 
Information and Had Financial Motive.  

To be liable under Rule 10b-5, an individual must have had the requisite 

scienter—the “intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud.” Ernst & Ernst v. 

Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185 (1976); Aaron v. Sec. & Exch. Comm'n, 446 U.S. 680 

(1980). Scienter is a required element of Rule 10b–5, regardless of the identity 

of the plaintiff or the nature of the relief sought. Ernst & Ernst, 425 U.S. at 185; 

Aaron, 446 U.S. at 680. Moreover, every jurisdiction that has decided the issue 

of scienter has concluded that recklessness can be sufficient to show scienter. 

See Ottmann v. Hanger Orthopedic Grp., Inc., 353 F.3d 338, 343 (4th Cir. 

2003); Rolf v. Blyth, Eastman Dillon & Co., 570 F.2d 38, 46 (2d Cir.1978); Van 

Dyke v. Coburn Enters., 873 F.2d 1094, 1100 (8th Cir.1989). Moreover, when 

determining whether scienter exists, motive can be a relevant consideration, 

and personal financial gain may weigh heavily in favor of a scienter inference. 

Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 310 (2007). Mere 

tangential involvement with the dissemination process is not enough for 

liability. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101 (finding a mailroom clerk only tangentially 

involved in dissemination could be primarily liable because they lack the 

requisite intent.) Absent the requisite scienter, an individual is not subject to 

liability under Rule 10b-5. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. 

However, here, Cato’s actions indicate her clear intent to deceive, 

manipulate, and defraud investors of Alcollezione. (R. at 6). The facts of this 

case do not allow for a contrary conclusion. In particular, Cato intended to 

deceive, manipulate, and defraud the shareholders when she gave false 
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assurances regarding the beverage compliance timeline of Frizzantissimo which 

were subsequently used to induce investment in the product. (R. at 5-6). When 

Cato was hired in 2009, she quickly began to familiarize herself with the 

regulations in place for beverage quality control. (R. at 2). Nevertheless, Cato 

spent eight years working for Alcollezione and ensuring compliance with the 

company’s other products and drafted assurances that Frizzantissimo would be 

approved and ready for market in the second quarter of 2018. (R. at 6). She 

made these assurances despite doubts they were correct. (R. at 5). In fact, a 

“diligent research assessment of the current regulatory landscape regarding 

sparkling alcoholic beverages” was completed by Cato which indicated that it 

would be unclear if Frizzantissimo would pass any beverage regulations. (R. at 

6). The assurances were also given as a “it is better to ask for forgiveness than 

permission” type of mindset, which cannot be considered anything other than 

intentional or the least extreme recklessness, which is sufficient to prove 

scienter. In re Phillips Petroleum Sec. Litig., 881 F.2d at 1244; (R. at 5). As such, 

Cato knowingly disseminating the assurances with the clear intent to deceive. 

(R. at 6). 

Moreover, Cato’s role in Alcollezione far exceeded the tangential 

involvement this Court refused to punish in Lorenzo. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 

1101. First, Cato’s motive for financial gain is clear. With her biannual review 

coming up at the time her assurances were disseminated, this alone gave her a 

motive for personal financial gain. (R. at 5). This Court has already determined 

such financial gain is a strong inference of scienter. Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 310; 

(R. at 5). Second, while mere position in a company or involvement with a 



  P14 

 27 

particular project may not be enough to prove scienter, Cato’s role in 

Alcollezione was far more than tangential—she spent eight years ensuring 

compliance. (R. at 2).; See City of Philadelphia v. Fleming Cos., 264 F.3d 1245, 

1264 (10th Cir. 2001) (concluding that “the mere fact” that defendants 

“occupied senior positions in the company” was inadequate for an inference 

of scienter.”). Here, this is not an allegation that Cato has the requisite scienter 

because of her position in the company. Cato is not an innocent mailroom 

clerk. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101. Cato was a bright attorney who graduated at 

the top of her class, established the company’s headquarters, learned and 

ensured beverage regulation for their other products. (R. at 2). She took trips 

with the company owners to other countries, and she knew how much the 

company meant to everyone. (R. at 3). She was extremely involved in the 

company and she intended to deceive and defraud investors to ensure the 

company would be successful at whatever costs. Ernst & Ernst, 425 U.S. at 

185. Both her motive for financial gain and long-term, active involvement in the 

compliance process are indicative of the requisite scienter. Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 

310; Ernst & Ernst, 425 U.S. at 185. 

Important here, although this Court did not have to consider the scienter 

issue in Lorenzo as it was not challenged on appeal, Cato’s actions are similar 

to Lorenzo’s where the lower court found that Lorenzo had the requisite 

scienter under Rule 10b-5. Lorenzo acted with the requisite scienter when he 

knowingly sent misleading emails to prospective investors about the amount of 

assets the company had. Lorenzo v. Sec. & Exch. Comm'n, 872 F.3d 578, 586 

(D.C. Cir. 2017), aff'd, 139 S. Ct. 1094 (2019). The securities laws, specifically 



  P14 

 28 

the Act, were designed “to meet the countless and variable schemes devised by 

those who seek the use of the money of others on the promise of profits.” W. J. 

Howey Co., 328 U.S. at 299. This is the exact motive that the securities 

provisions were aimed at preventing. Id.  

C. The Motion to Dismiss Must be Denied as Relief can be Properly 
Sought Under Section 10(b). 

 
In order to properly state a claim under which relief can be sought under 

Section 10b-5, a plaintiff must allege that a defendant: (1) made material 

misrepresentations; (2) with scienter; (3) in connection with the purchase or 

sale of a security; (4) upon which the plaintiff relied; (5) causing economic loss 

as a result of the material misrepresentation. Dura Pharmaceuticals v. Broudo, 

544 U.S. 336, 341-42 (2005). Thus, if each of these elements are properly 

stated then a motion to dismiss must be denied—which is the case here. Id.  

First and foremost, it has been proven that while Cato did not “make” the 

misrepresentation, she is nevertheless liable as a disseminator under 

subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5 which this Court has held in Lorenzo. 

Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1094; (R. at 6). Second, Cato acted with the requisite 

scienter as she did in fact have the intent to defraud investors when she made 

the faulty assurances, as it is the only reason, she would have made these 

assurances. (R. at 5). Third, the faulty assurances were created in connection 

to the purchase of stock of Alcollezione, the sale of a security. (R. at 6). Fourth, 

the investors relied on Cato’s assurances as they made their decisions to invest 

in the company based on the assurances given at the Stockholder meeting and 

on the website about the company’s future endeavors. (R. at 7). And lastly, 
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when Frizzantissimo failed beverage compliance, which Cato gave assurances 

about, the stock price tumbled by nearly 29% while the ADR price dropped 

nearly 27% which certainly caused economic harm to the plaintiffs who 

invested into the company based on Frizzantissimo compliance and 

subsequently success in the market. (R. at 6).  

In Lorenzo this Court expressly stated, “the line the Court adopts today is 

clear: Those who disseminate false statements with intent to defraud are 

primarily liable under Rules 10b–5(a) and (c), § 10(b). . . even if they are 

secondarily liable under Rule 10b–5(b).” Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1104. The is the 

precise situation in the current case and thus Cato must be subject to primary 

liability under Rule 10b-5 (a) and (c). As there are sufficient facts stating a 

claim upon which relief can be sought under both subsections (a) and (c) of 

Rule 10b-5 the motion to dismiss must be denied. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated herein, Petitioners respectfully request this Court 

to reverse the decision of the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourteenth 

Circuit and reinstate the decision of the United States District Court for the 

District of Fordham. 

Respectfully Submitted,  

__________________/s/ 

Team P14  
Counsel of Record for Petitioners 


